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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, and
STATE OF CONNECTICUT,

Plaintiffs,

V. Case No.

TICKETNETWORK, INC.,
a corporation;
TICKET SOFTWARE, LLC, Date July 24,201/

a limited liability company;

RYADD, INC.,
a corporation;

RYAN J. BAGLEY,
individually and as an officer of
RYADD, INC,;

CHARLES A. LINEBERRY,
individually and as an officer of
RYADD, INC.;

SECUREBOXOFFICE, LLC,
a limited liability company; and
JAMES P. MORAN,
individually and as a member of
SECUREBOXOFFICE, LLC,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER RELIEF

Plaintiffs, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) and the State of Connecticut (the
“State™), for their Complaint allege:

1. The FTC brings this action under Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission
Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), to obtain permanent injunctive relief, rescission or

reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, disgorgement of ill-gotten
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monies and other equitable relief for Defendants’ acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of
the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

2 The State of Connecticut, by and through George Jepsen, the Attorney General of
the State of Connecticut, acting at the request of William M. Rubenstein, Commissioner of the
Connecticut Department of Consumer Protection, brings this action under the Connecticut Unfair
Trade Practices Act (“CUTPA”), Chapter 735a of the Connecticut General Statutes, and more
particularly General Statutes § 42-110m, to obtain injunctive relief against the Defendants’
alleged violations of General Statutes § 42-110b(a), to obtain other relief as is necessary to
redress injury to consumers resulting from the Defendants’ violations of law, and disgorge
Defendants of ill-gotten money and civil penalties, pursuant to General Statutes § 42-1100(b).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a),
and 1345, and 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a) and 53(b).

4. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the plaintiff State of Connecticut’s
claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

1 Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c), and 15 U.S.C.

§ 53(b).
PLAINTIFES

6. The FTC is an independent agency of the United States Government created by
statute. 15 U.S.C. §§ 41-58. The FTC enforces Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a),
which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce. The FTC is
authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by its own attorneys, to enjoin violations

of the FTC Act and to secure such equitable relief as may be appropriate in each case, including
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rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and disgorgement of
ill-gotten monies. 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).

7. The State of Connecticut, through its Attorney General acting at the request of the
Commissioner of Consumer Protection, is authorized to initiate proceedings to enjoin violations
of CUTPA and to seek injunctive relief, restitution and civil penalties and other equitable relief
as this Court deems appropriate. Connecticut General Statutes §§ 42-110m and 42-110o0.

DEFENDANTS

8. Defendant TicketNetwork, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place
of business at 75 Gerber Road East, South Windsor, CT 06074. At all times material to this
Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, TicketNetwork, Inc. has advertised, marketed,
distributed, or sold resale event tickets to consumers throughout the United States.
TicketNetwork, Inc. runs a program, the “TicketNetwork Resale Partner Program” (hereinafter,
“TN Partner Program™), through which “Partners” advertise and market resale event tickets in
TicketNetwork, Inc.’; inventory through their own websites that are linked to websites owned by
TicketNetwork, Inc. TicketNetwork, Inc. transacts or has transacted business in this district.

9. Defendant Ticket Software, LLC, also doing business as TicketNetwork Direct, is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of TicketNetwork, Inc., and a Connecticut limited liability company
with its principal place of business at 75 Gerber Road East, South Windsor, CT 06074. Ticket
Software, LLC is the operating entity for TicketNetwork, Inc. and, for example, holds the
intellectual property rights and employs personnel for TicketNetwork, Inc. At all times material
to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, Ticket Software, LLC has advertised,
marketed, distributed, or sold resale event tickets to consumers throughout the United States.
Under the name TicketNetwork Direct, Ticket Software, LLC runs the TN Partner Program with

TicketNetwork, Inc. Ticket Software, LLC transacts or has transacted business in this district.
3
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10.  Defendant Ryadd, Inc. (“Ryadd”) is a Texas corporation with its principal place
of business at 3013 Raspberry Road, Austin, TX 78748. From 2010 to December 2011, Ryadd
was incorporated in Virginia. From 2007 through 2009, Ryadd operated as Ryad, LLC, a
Connecticut limited liability corporation. Ryadd operates the website, www.official-online-
tickets.com, among others, and is a “Partner” in the TN Partner Program. Ryadd joined the TN
Partner Program in 2006. At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with
others, Ryadd has advertised, marketed, distributed, or sold resale event tickets to consumers
throughout the United States. Ryadd transacts or has transacted business in this -district.

11.  Defendant SecureBoxOffice, LLC (“SBO”) is a Connecticut limited liability
corporation that had its principal place of business at 31 Rocklyn Drive West, Simsbury, CT
06092 from June 2011 until sometime in 2013 when it relocated to San Diego, CA. SBO
operates the website, www.secureboxoffice.com, among others, and is a “Partner” in the TN
Partner Program. SBO joined the TN Partner Program in 2009. At all times material to this
Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, SBO has advertised, marketed, distributed, or
sold resale event tickets to consumers throughout the United States. SBO transacts or has
transacted business in this district.

12.  Defendant Ryan J. Bagley (“Bagley”) was a sales executive at TicketNetwork
from at least 2005 through mid-January 2011, and has been a co-owner of Ryadd from at least
September 2010 through the present. Bagley has directly participated in the creation of Ryadd’s
advertising and marketing, including buying domain names and creating paid search engine
advertisements and websites. At times material to this Complaint, individually, or in concert
with others, Bagley has formulated, directed, controlled, or participated in the acts and practices

alleged herein. During all or part of the relevant time period, Bagley has resided in this district
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and, in connection with the matters alleged herein, transacts or has transacted business in this
district and throughout the United States.

13.  Defendant Charles A. Lineberry (“Lineberry”) is co-owner of Ryadd. Lineberry
has directly participated in the creation of Ryadd’s advertising and marketing, including buying
domain names and creating paid search engine advertisements and websites. At times material
to this Complaint, individually, or in concert with others, Lineberry has formulated, directed,
controlled, or participated in the acts and practices alleged herein. In connection with the matters
alleged herein, Lineberry transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the
United States.

14.  Defendant James Moran (“Moran”) is the sole owner and manager of SBO.
Moran has directly participated in the creation of SBO’s advertising and marketing, including
buying domain names and creating paid search engine advertisements and web pages. At times
material to this Complaint, individually, or in concert with others, Moran has formulated,
directed, controlled, or participated in the acts or practices alleged herein. Moran resides in this
district and, in connection with the matters alleged herein, transacts or has transacted business in
this district and throughout the United States.

COMMERCE

15: At all times material to this Complaint, Defendants have maintained a substantial
course of trade in or affecting commerce, as “commerce” is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act,
15 U.S.C. §44.

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Secondary Ticket Market

16.  Defendants all are involved in the secondary ticket market (the “Secondary

Market”), in which resellers such as ticket brokers and other individuals sell tickets to consumers

5
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for a variety of events including, but not limited to, sporting events, concerts, and theatrical
performances.

17.  The Secondary Market is separate and distinct from the primary ticket market (the
“Primary Market”), in which consumers purchase tickets directly from either a venue box office
or from a ticket service — such as Ticketmaster — which contracts with event venues, promoters,
and sports teams to offer and sell tickets on their behalf, generally at face value.

18.  The Secondary Market exists mostly online. On one end of the transaction is a
consumer shopping for a ticket for an event; on the other end is a ticket reseller who holds a
ticket or will attempt to procure a ticket for a consumer. The vast majority of tickets available
for sale on the Secondary Market are held by professional ticket brokers who obtain tickets from
a variety of sources, with the intent to resell at a price above the ticket’s face value.

19.  The Secondary Market generates billions of dollars in annual revenues. The
industry has benefited not only from technologies that enable the efficient distribution of resale
tickets, but also from a number of states, including Connecticut, that have repealed anti-scalping
laws.

20. At all times material to this Complaint, TicketNetwork has operated one of the
largest ticket resale marketplaces in the United States. Event tickets sold through
TicketNetwork’s exchanges often are priced above face value. TicketNetwork offers these resale

event tickets through its proprietary websites, www.ticketnetwork.com and

www.ticketliquidator.com. In addition, TicketNetwork promotes the purchase of resale event

tickets through Partners in its TN Partner Program who place their own advertisements and
operate their own websites. TicketNetwork does not provide ticketing services for the Primary
Market and does not contract with any venues or promoters to provide ticketing services on their

behalf.
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Ryadd’s and SBO’s Resale Partner Program Practices

21.  TicketNetwork began selling tickets on the Secondary Market through its Partner
Program in 2006. TicketNetwork licenses standard ticket website templates, plug-in software,
and web services to its Partners, who then advertise the resale event tickets in TicketNetwork’s
inventory through their own websites. The plug-in software designed and provided by
TicketNetwork enables its Partners to access TicketNetwork’s inventory feed and to display
ticket listings, venue maps with seat locations, and other information about the tickets on their
websites. It also handles credit card processing and other key functions. TicketNetwork liaison
personnel also provide routine assistance to Partners, including advice on upcoming shows,
training on pay-per-click marketing, complaint-handling, and emergency technical assistance.

22, TicketNetwork contracts with Partners to act on its behalf to market and sell
tickets in order to generate more revenue for TicketNetwork. TicketNetwork earns fees on every
Partner ticket sale. The Partner Program over the years has become one of TicketNetwork’s most
profitable segments.

23.  Most, if not all, consumers who purchase event tickets through a TicketNetwork
Partner website begin their ticket search using an Internet search engine such as Google. Search
engine results frequently include advertisements placed by one or more of TicketNetwork’s
Partners, which advertisements link to the Partners’ resale ticket websites.

24, Numerous Ryadd and SBO search engine advertisements and websites have been
designed to resemble official sites for venues holding events, or other entities authorized by the
venues to sell tickets at the face value price. The technique used by Ryadd and SBO is to
employ hundreds of individual websites (sometimes called “microsites”), each mimicking an
individual event venue. In many instances, the website domain name, which is also included as a

link in the search engine advertisement for the website, is almost identical to an actual venue’s
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website name (e.g., Ryadd’s site, www.raymond-james-stadium.org, mimicked the official site,

www.ravmondjamesstadium.com). In other cases, these Partners obtain domain names

mimicking only part of a venue name, then add venue-specific text to the “display URL” shown
in their online advertisements. For example, Ryadd purchased the domain name “center-dc.org”
and then added the subdomain “verizon” to form the display URL “verizon.center-dc.org” used
in its search engine advertisements. In many instances, the webpages on these microsites further
imitate the actual venue websites through their titles, visual images, descriptions, or other
content.

25.  Since at least September 2010, Ryadd has operated and controlled hundreds of
website domains employing the advertising and marketing techniques that are addressed in this
complaint. Ryadd is or has been one of TicketNetwork’s leading Partners during the relevant
time period.

26.  Since at least June 2011, SBO has operated and controlled over 140 website
domains employing the advertising and marketing techniques that are addressed in this
complaint. SBO is or has been another one of TicketNetwork’s leading Partners during the
relevant time period.

Examples of Consumer Experience Purchasing
Tickets Through Rvadd Websites

27.  The following is an example of one search engine advertisement that Ryadd

placed during the relevant period. A consumer who typed the phrase “radio city music hall” into
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a Google search engine box would see the following search results:

oY Search  nog Maps  Youl N Gmail  Documents.  Calendar  More -
GO ;glc radio city music hall “ Sign
Search 1 o |
]
I Evieything Ads-¥ing Ihese 305" Radie City Music Hall - Directions |
Radio City Music Hall | RadioCity MusicHall-NY.com s _ : PR -~
Images radlocity. musichali-ny.com/ ) g s
Official Ticket Source Online For Radio City Music Hall Tickels in NY - E 3 I
Meps Y L ‘;l o Myt f
Videos Radio City Tickets NYC - Bu Save up fo 40% Toda : "@ T
radiocity buvandsavetickets com/ ST Eemmw
News Tickets For Radio City Music Hall s i, ‘;- = &
< Thests Lastnct .
Shapping & -Times Square A7-5CEm o v
Radio City Music Hall - Official Web Site - New York City ©2012Googe , . f"“ %1 a0 ot €29%2 Google
More weerw radiocity com?

Presents and promoles live entertainment events at Radio City Music Hall, Madisen

Square Garden, and the Thealer at Madison Square Garden. 3
Faifax, VA = *%%&w 218 Google reviews
Kemnge locktion i 12606 Avenue New York, NY 10020

(212) 2474777

Any time

p,:lhm Calendar of Events - Radio ... Box Office Info Ers

Past 24 ho Welcoma lo ThaGarden.com. your On the first day of sala. tickats for Sat Mar24  Franco De Vita - En Primera Fila Tour
AR24 hours, source for the best events in ... concets are not sold at the ... tcre wia licketmaster.com, songkick.com

Past 2 days Fri, Apr& Pitbull

Pastweek Tours Centact Us einfo songkick.com, licketmaster.com

Past month The Radio City Rockeltes ara the Radio City Music Hall 1260 Avenua Sat Apr7 Pitbull

Past year wvrorld’s most famous precision ... of the Americas New ... Yore irfo songkick.com, ticketmaster com

Custom rance

28. The first listed result is a paid advertisement for a resale website owned and
operated by Ryadd, doing business as Official Online Tickets, promoting resale tickets in
TicketNetwork’s inventory. All three lines convey the impression that clicking on this
advertisement will take consumers to the “official” website for Radio City Music Hall:

Radio City Music Hall/ RadioCity MusicHall-NY.com

radiocity.musichall-ny.com

Official Ticket Source Online for Radio City Music Hall Tickets in NY
Ryadd uses the actual venue name in the first and second lines of the advertisement, followed by
a third line claiming it is the “Official Ticket Source Online” for the venue. In fact, Ryadd filed
a trademark application in July 2011 for the phrase “Official Ticket Source Online,” which, as
illustrated herein, it then connected with whatever specific venue it was advertising (e.g., Official
Ticket Source Online for Radio City Music Hall Tickets in NY).

29.  The second line of Ryadd’s advertisement — “radiocity.musichall-ny.com/” — is

called the “display URL.” Pursuant to Google’s search engine policies, a display URL does not
9
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have to be the exact URL to which consumers are directed, but it must contain the actual URL
owned by the advertiser. In the above example, Ryadd added the more venue-specific detail
(“radiocity”) to the display URL. The actual URL owned by Ryadd, to which consumers were
directed, is “musichall-ny.com.”

30. A consumer who clicked on the blue hyperlink in this ad (“Radio City Music

Hall j RadioCity.MusicHall-NY.com”) was directed to the landing page of a Ryadd website.

The top of the website’s landing page appeared as follows:

w tied aed wirie-shed LA Lpmialimy = calen e W souimdar g rearkale Wu are il allhated mtl oy sy welnde. i of e e,

Browse events at Radlo Clty Music iiall Radlo Clty Music Hall Info

s 2 Lovten = e SR
Frense e Vite Hugio Chty Music el Soturday Ziic bata: T Voo
Hew York, NY Marzd 2017 e o 18573
8:00 PM
Pichull 2 Music Hall T rids
R umu A:’O‘é &u View Tickess | Vickat Information

ke B Daleyed B

Pitoull Radio Ciry Music Halt Sawurday Viaw Tickats.
um?mux AprT, 3012
£.00 PM
Pulp fladlo Clty Wusic Hall  Tuasd, Vi ikt |
Haw York NY Apr 10,2012 it
.00 P o
seitbess A ks Are. ibtwrmsd
- gl ooy e )
07 PM
Badio City MusicHall  Thurs ’
The Fray ; ol u.gﬁ, Verw kot | About Radio City Music Hall
3:00 PM *az bean 2w
Danis! Tash T Halt Friday o
How Yous, KY s 2ny  —t
100 "M
Danie! Tosh Raslo Glry Msic Hall Frigay View
New York. NY Apu 11 2012 AT
10:00 PM
Gabriel iglasias ’ Saturday
Hewe York, MY Prosrice PR LB L
5:00 PM

Radrige Y Gabrisle 8 CUDA,  Radie Gity Mussc tal Feid
Haw Yark, HY Ag.rg.g:‘n iewTickess |

31.  The most physically prominent feature on the landing page is the title in large
print — “Radio City Music Hall” — accompanied by a visual image of the venue. Underneath the
title, in much smaller type, there is language stating “Powered by Official Online Tickets. No
affiliation with official site.”

32.  Onthe left side of the landing page, under the “Browse Events at Radio City
Music Hall” heading, is a table of general ticket listings with information generated through a

feed from TicketNetwork’s inventory.
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33.  On the right side of the landing page, there is location information about the
venue in the “Radio City Music Hall Info™ section at the top. On the bottom right side is a
section entitled “About Radio City Music Hall,” which provides more specific facts about the
venue. For example:

Radio City Musical [sic] Hall has been one of the premier entertainment
destinations in the world since opening in 1932 in New York City in the
Rockefeller Center. The Radio City name was derived from the first
tenants the Radio Corporation of America. Radio City Music Hall has
housed the Radio City Christmas Spectacular as an annual holiday musical
production since 1933 featuring the dance team known as the Rockettes.
The seating capacity is 5,933 for most shows.
In the middle of the right side of the landing page, in small print in the “Ticket Information™
section, Ryadd included the following text:
Price: Ticket Prices Can Be Below Or Above Face Value.
Inventory: We Are A Secondary Market Ticket Provider Utilizing The
Most Extensive Network of Buyers And Sellers of Event Inventory For
Buyers and Sellers.

34.  Ryadd only added the following fine print, under the heading box of the landing
pages for its Official Online Tickets websites, in or around fall 2011: “We are an independently
owned and operated site specializing in sales in the secondary market. We are not affiliated with
any primary website, venue, or box office.”

35.  The disclaimers on the landing page, given their size, placement, language, and
other factors, are insufficient to dispel the net impression conveyed by Ryadd’s preceding
Google advertisements, and the more prominent venue elements on the landing page itself, that

this website is the official site for Radio City Music Hall or is the official site of an entity

authorized by Radio City Music Hall to sell tickets at face value.

11
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36. A consumer who clicked on a “View Tickets” button on the landing page was
directed to a ticket listing page providing specific information about tickets available in
TicketNetwork’s inventory for the consumer’s chosen event, for example:

Call 877-686-5366

pio City Music HAaLL

L Powered bylOffiicial OnlinekTicketsNo AtfillationtwithlOfficial Site

Franco De Vita, Radio City MusicHall

The foliowing sets of bickets are available for "Franco De Via". To sort the Jist, click the column header. Event Date & Time: Mar 24, 2012 - 3:00 PM
To purchase tickets from a set, cick the "Buy” button in that row. Event Venue: Radio City Music Hall
All prices are PER TICKET and shown in US dellars. Event Location: New York. NY
e ” We are a resale marketplace, not a box office or venue.
How mary tickats 4o you Want? 1l decide at cieckout | Click a soction to ﬁcmnfo'rmnllon on tokots there @
What's your price 1ange? Neminimum >|- Nomaximum >| & = Vi
beiow are in sections marked [l] on the map
Row  eAwl Preeleach
RR 2or4 5202 Buy I
oo 2 5207 Buy |
D 20r4 s221 _swy =l
™ 20r4 s221 Buy. 9
N T T i
T TR U R i
ORCHESTRA T 2or4 §221 Buy
ORCH4 FF lor3 s228 Buy. ;
ORCH4 EE 2 5250 Buy | ‘
ORCH4 FF 2or4 §250 Buy |
15T MEZZANINE E 2o0r4 §251 Buy.
1S5TMZ7 E 2or4 $251 Buy
ORCHS cc 2 5254 Buy |
©24 bor 201"
Breias.com
: rz) Seckan Sacton with Sacton wih Secticn with na ™7 194
bl Foritel Sckets avatsble [ Cer tctents ot avataie |

37.  As with the preceding landing page, the most prominent features on this page are
the title “Radio City Music Hall,” together with the visual image of the venue and the seating
map. The information provided in each of the ticket listings and in the venue map is created and

maintained by TicketNetwork through its software plug-in that links to TicketNetwork’s

inventory.
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38.  The list price for each ticket is based on the price set by the actual reseller (e.g.,
broker), plus a mark-up by Ryadd, and an additional markup by TicketNetwork. In many
instances, a ticket’s list price exceeds its face value price, which is not displayed.

39.  Infall 2011, TicketNetwork modified the plug-in software that its Partners use to
display venue maps of their sites, allowing Partners to place the following fine print to appear
above the venue map: “We are a resale marketplace, not a box office or venue.” As in the case
of the landing page disclosure, this disclaimer also was insufficient to dispel the net impression
created by the Google advertisements and the landing page that this is the official website for
Radio City Music Hall or is the official site of an entity authorized by Radio City Music Hall to
sell tickets at face value. In fact, prior to TicketNetwork’s adding this language, Defendant
Bagley advised the company that venues who had complained about the practices of
TicketNetwork Partners would not find this to be an adequate disclaimer.

40. A consumer who clicked on a “Buy” button for tickets on the ticket listing page

was directed to a checkout page, for example:

OFFICIAL ONLINE TICKETS

(Cal1{8777686-5366 %

| i Tickets i
| Eve Franco De Vita

‘ Time Satrday. M 2812 #2000 PM ‘
| Locapen: Fiacho City Mosic Hall in New York, NY LS |
i

Seats Section: DRCHL Row: €2 Tickets: 40 ‘

i Price Pes Ticket: 42 Debvery: 5 I
| Tick#is Requs 1r| '2 -I = T a- ) I

b 4 otah:
| Piease Note: %
1 Alignces aie m UG Dot
| 4 OES NG g E

s & IMES - - -
PURCHASENOTES
Arenun emal viweh statac hat |
i ' | 1 Delivery Options

| |
‘ Deivar To: [~ Select Country - | [

: Tickels can oaly be shipped o the countries fsted above |

|

| ‘ Delivery Method: |- Sefect Dalivery Oplian - = chck o help |
{ Piease seiecl a Uslivery Countiy and Delivery Method Tor addibena! Information. |
i |
L A 21 gelver: mslucun

| Billing Information

l First Name [
Lost Name:

i Email Address: |
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41.  This page contains a bold, prominent heading, supplied by Ryadd, which reads
“Official Online Tickets.” Buried in fine black print at the end of the “Please Note” area in the
“Tickets” section is the statement, “We are a resale marketplace, not a box office or venue.”

42.  The top left corner of the checkout page provides the following information in
fine black print:

Price: Ticket Prices Can Be Below Or Above Face Value.

Inventory: We Are A Secondary Market Ticket Provider Utilizing The

Most Extensive Network of Buyers And Sellers of Event Inventory For

Buyers and Sellers.
Ryadd’s principals discussed in internal emails their goal of displaying this information in a
manner least likely to be noticed by consumers. Prior to fall 2011, Ryadd did not provide this
Ticket Information box on its checkout pages.

43.  TicketNetwork controlled the “terms and policies” section on the checkout page.
If a consumer scrolls down to the bottom of the checkout page, below the “Billing Information™
fields, there is a section asking: “Have you read and do you agree to our terms and policies?”

with radio buttons, i.e., clickable circles, reading “Yes™ and “No.” Below this question is a scroll

box containing information about the consumer’s purchase, as illustrated:

Diing unuinEauon

First Nama:

itn

..: ) I
o [

o

c

$uate®rovince: [ Select State — =]

DpTFoseai € -_‘-:[ B m'.rv:l

F Usewms b B2y e 57 ; 3ddress
el -o = - [0 B
L

Expirat ..:mm H
Securty Code: vihat 15 & Security Zode? | |
iscount "f'il na

22 sou read 00 40 rou Agree o sut ferms ard potges™ (YR @ o

[General. Official-Cniine-Tickets.com acts as an inlermediary between buyers and tickel seilers (defined below) 1o faciiiate the «
jpurchase and sale of event lickets. and as such is not directly involved in the actual licket sale transaclion between the buyers

mnd TICKET SELLERS. All sales are final. As tickels sold through SITE are often oblained through the secondary market and

iprices are determined by the Individual ticket seller, the prices for tickels may be above or below face value. The following are

the rules or “TERMS" that govern use of the Official-Oniine-Tickets. com Web Site ("SITE") by you, the user of the SITE

ICUSER"). By using or visiting the SITE. USER expressly agrees to be bound by these TERMS and 1o follow these TERMS b
@nd all applicable laws and regulalions governing the SITE. Official-Online-Tickets.com reseives the right 1o change these

TERMS at any time, effective immedtately upon posting on the SITE. If USER violates these TERMS Official-Online-

[Tickets.com may terminate USER’s access to the SITE. bar USER frem future use of the SITE, cancel USER's licke! order, - | I
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44, The first sentence of this scroll box states: “General. Official Online Tickets.com
acts as an intermediary between buyers and sellers (defined below) to facilitate the purchase and
sale of event tickets...”. On the 11" line of dense text there is also a reference that “tickets sold
through SITE are often obtained through secondary market TICKET SELLERS and are being

resold, in many cases, above the price or ‘face value’ listed on the ticket.”

| T~ Py Vo= (@
Have you read and do you agree 1o cur terms and colicies” Cve: @

nd#oriakeappropﬁaieiegalaction against USER. l ’ ' ﬂ

bove Face Value. Tickets sold through SITE are often obtained through secendary market TICKET SELLERS and are being
resold, in many cases, above the price or "face value” listed on the ficket. All ticket prices include additional service charges

nd handling fees as defined on each order. SITE and its TICKET SELLERS are not directly affiliated with any performer, [:?

ports team, or venue; and SITE does not act as a primary sale box office, unless othenwise stated. By agreeing to these

ERMS, USER agrees that the purchase price for tickets on their order does not reflect the original purchase price of the ticket |
and may be either higher or lower than the original purchase price. _‘:_l

45, The foregoing disclaimers, by virtue of their placement, size, language, and other
factors, are also insufficient to dispel the misleading net impression conveyed by the title of this
page, the preceding Google advertisements, the landing page, and the buy tickets page. In
addition, a consumer does not have to scroll down within the “terms and policies” box to
complete this transaction; rather, the consumer could simply click “Yes” above it, and then click
the “Continue” button at the bottom of the webpage to review the order, and ultimately complete
the transaction.

46.  The following is another example of a search engine advertisement that Ryadd
placed during the relevant period. A consumer searching for an event at the XL Center in
Hartford, Connecticut, who typed the phrase “xI center” into a Google Search engine box, would

see the following search results:
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47.

h 4 X! center “

W g o Bheppany o -

Ad radetad 1 af epnlar T

XL Center - Oificial Tickels Scurce Ontni For

X cenberivetioed comy

Tha XL Cenuse Tickets in Barriaed

Ringling Brothers Ciecys - Justn Bleber - 23 Gymnastios Chespienshios

XL CENTER _Home
VWY RICRITIRS oty
Tha XL Cenver. formarly known 35 the Martleed Tivic Ceoter. s @ mull purpose mena
4nd chnmention cater ke tied in dowitevr Hartierd Conngctios USA

coir 20 ') 17 Sooghe revieen  Vivie 3 review

o 225 YTrumdeli 51 Hanferz CT 04303
(862, 7296333

Evonts - Seating - Pubb Fawer Tidhat Offee Desevne
XL CENTER FEvonts e Xt Conter. Saemary knowm 35 the Marderd Chvic Center b a mult
.:.-.'. ilémw e - orils Fuepe sl alend And cammntian diider locatod in Souniasn Hamtfosd
Events & Tiekpts. Gri View List irw RLES Pviot Vien A1 Sgc 3 2937, Connectiat, L/SA
CONM Men's Baskeinall by Shows . O
Concaerts - LCONN Men's Basketnsll - Famby Shos her Capacity: 16 74
XL CENTER [t Addiess: 275 Trumbul St Hartierd €T 26703
i XlCantes cor ATt Phowms: (5501 2286333
Dupriieny )3 Ceater 35 § Chvie Contar Plata Haterd CT 06183 — Hours: Tupsday bours 900 am=5 20 pm - See a8 |

Team: Conmsstiont {Whale

AL CENTER _1ckals
wi xicenter - RN ey :
The XL Combar farmarty kresn an the Hatford Oide Canter b 3 muf purpose = 0 VIR fovi
XL Center - Wikipedia the fiee sntyclopedin Upceming events
0 Bl e Wi XL _Centar R
Tha X1 Contar Jossipely kst an Sep Mardedtl S Comter 55 3 megligarpoyd tana Fai e Canracou Vs ve Speinglield Faleoes 2t X1 Cen +
an comventicn camter lncabed in downtews Hamlord, Cannacicat, USA e Age T Providanda Braes ot Tosnogtisul Aty

The first listed result is an advertisement for a Ryadd resale website. The first

three lines convey the impression that clicking on this advertisement will take consumers to the

“official” website for the XL Center in Hartford, Connecticut:

48.

XL Center — Official Ticket source Online For

xl.centerhartford.com/

The XL Center tickets in Hartford

Ringling Brothers Circus — Justin Bieber — US Gymnastics Championships

In the above example, Ryadd added the more venue-specific detail in the display

URL, “xl.centerhartford.com.” The actual URL owned by Ryadd, to which consumers are

directed, is “centerhartford.com.”
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49. A consumer who clicked on any of the blue hyperlinks in this ad was directed to
the Ryadd website promoting resale tickets in TicketNetwork’s inventory. This website follows
a slightly modified format that Ryadd began using on some of its microsites some time in 2012.

The landing page contains similar venue-mimicking elements as shown above, but is headlined

with a more generic title as follows:

HARTFORD

TICKETS

Powered by Official Onl KetsNO AH|ltationtwithiOtficial Sita )
-
We are an independently ovined and operated site speciafizing in sales in the secondary market. We are not afiiated with any primary wabstte, verue, or box office.
Browse events at XL Center XL Center Info
City: Hartford
Everf Jokormason b oncil Pelz Country: Un'ted States OF America
Connecticut Whale vs. XL Center Formerly Sunday View Tickets State: Conneticut
Providence Bruins Hartford Civic Cent... Apr7,2013 Zip: 05102
Hartford, CT 3:00 PM
Ringling Bros. And Barum & XL Center Formerly Thursday A (T g 11 1]
Bailey Circus Hartford Civic Cent... May 9, 2013 LL Inf L
Hartford, CT 7:00 PM Shipping: Shipping May Be Delayed But
Rinalin 0s. Barnum & XL Center Formerly Friday “.” Arrive Baf({ra The Event Guaranteed,
Balley Circus Hartford Civic Cent...  May 10, 2013 i‘;;:e 1::::2:““_? can BeBaloy Cr
Hartford. CT 10:30 AM Invantory: We Are A Secondary Market
Ringling Bros. And Bamum & XL Center Formerty i s Ticket Provider Utiizing The Most
. te s Friday View Tickets Extensive Network Of Buyers And Sefers
Bailey Circus Hartford Civic Cent... c:;m Cent.. Ma;;:‘szma Of Event Inventory For Buyers And
Hartford, CT b Sellars,
inglin r Barnum ter Forme Saturday @ Guarm!u:rAil Tickets Are lGuluntHd
ggilgf'égmimu}—! - Hzal‘m‘mm ChicCent..  May 11,2013 To B Lestnate And Ol
rtford, CT 11:00 AM
Ringlin mum & XL Center Formerly Saturday View Tickets | About XL Center
Bailey Circus Hartford Civic Cent... May 11, 2013
Hartford, CT 3:00 PM The XL Center, formerly The Hartfod
Ringling Bros. And Bamum & XL Center Formerly Saturday View Tickets Eu;?r:f:.r o fng'fs",’;:':;; i
Bailey Circus H ivic Cent... May 11, 2013 Cnnn.tiiui: The XL Center is & scalabls
Hartford, CT 7:00 PM venue,is a sports and convention
i plex lacated in Harticrd, Connacticut,
inglin Bamum& XL Center Formerly Sunday View Tiekets S R e e
Bailey Circus Hartford Civic Cent..  May 12, 2013 [ViewTi e B e
Hartford. CT 1:00 PM Group under contract vith the
= . Cennecticut Development Authority COA,
Ringling Bros. And Bamum & nter Forme Sunday [ievi Tickats T ‘s ranked the 26th largest
Bailey Circus Harfford Civic Cent...  May 12,2013 L ——= ;p;::::;fz;egi|¢imn:.
Hartford, CT 5.00 PM Originally located adizcert to a shopping
— § Cik 1, vk
ustin Bieber XLCenterFormerly  Thursday | View Tickets ikl s i
Hartford Civic Cent... Jul 18, 2013 e buiit in 1575 and consists of tvio
Hartford, CT 7:00 PM faciities: the Veterans Memarial
Celseum and the Exhibition Center.
2013 US nastics XL Center Formerly Wednesday View Tickets BT i e
Chamgions_l{ips: Jr. Men's Hartford Civic Cent... Aug 14, 2013 The XL.Centerdartford.com Is a prvately
Competition - Day 1 Hartford. CT 1:00 PM hald company that specisiizes in the sele
f tickets in th d rhat. W
2013 US Gymnastics XL Center Formerly Wednesday VM—T—I ickets | :TI r:o:t:f:‘.at:dsf.c.‘.:na:’:n;;:::nl‘:u‘;;;er
Championships: Sr. Men's Hartford Civic Cent... Aug 14, 2013 = er bos cffice. To purchase tickats to any
Comy n- 1 Hartford, CT 6:30 PM XL Center in Hartford evants simply calf
; tors st aryiim ik 2 th
2013 US Gymnastics XLCenter Formerly  Thursday [ ViewTickes | Cntyou b sang
Championships: Jr. Women's Hai Civic Cent...  Aug 15, 2013
Competition - 1 Hartford. CT 1:00 PM

50.

Ly

The most physically prominent feature on the landing page is the title in

large print — “Hartford Tickets” — accompanied by a visual image of the actual XL Center
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in Hartford. Predecessor pages on this website used the banner “XL Center” instead. In
this example, the sections on the right side of the page labeled “XL Center Info” and

“About XL Center” include facts about that particular venue:

The XL Center, formerly The Hartfod (sic) Civic Center, is a multi-use
arena, located just off Interstate 95 in Hartfod (sic), Connecticut. The XL
Center is a scalable venue, is a sports and convention complex located in
Hartford, Connecticut, USA, owned by the City of Hartford and operated
by Anschutz Entertainment Group under contract with the Connecticut
Development Authority CDA. The arena is ranked the 28th largest among
college basketball arenas. Originally located adjacent to a shopping mall
Civic Center Mall, which was demolished in 2004, it was originally built
in 1975 and consists of two facilities: the Veterans Memorial Coliseum
and the Exhibition Center.

51.  This landing page includes the same fine print disclaimer that appears in the
Radio City Music Hall landing page: “We are an independently owned and operated site
specializing in the secondary market. We are not affiliated with any primary website, venue, or
box office.” Underneath the title, in much smaller type, there also is a passage stating: “Powered

by Official Online tickets. No Affiliation with Official Site.”

52. A consumer who clicked on a “View Tickets” button was directed to a ticket

listing page, for example:

18
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Call 877-6B6-5366

HARTFORD TICKETS

'y oa il ONlne T EROTs IMG -Ml’\ KSLOA S tH oﬂ 1al'Siks

L ecticut Whale vs. Providence Bruins, XL Center - (Formerly Hartford Civic Center) = B I S
The falowiog sats of likelz are avadable for “Orrrgstiogt Whais v2. Proedeses Bruine” Te ot ife Event Date & Time: 40r ‘-. Etl’ - 3:00 am
Ryt ook e potuma hepger, M Belings sre secomdary sl jeventaey for resals. To purehase Niovels L} Event Venue: 5L

froee = wel, ook The "Boy™ Bullor i thal row
A prigea ore PER TELKET and ahisnr i US dotere

. it 4
Price range: - Quantity: Lumit display to: @
537 5 &7 Ay (%] | F ticksts EX

EE———
Taclizls Belew aox i 2elioes -'u'alﬂ. o0 hr r—zp

TS "'”‘
seatl.

SRR VSRaSE o T iy T Salevan Be M- 31 2000

225 X & ft $37 e

TR, TICunls v De mady Tor Saeirty Oy Mar 3, JBa)

27 F <k 437 ==
otk Towaty wi Befesey Wodrhat BeMerndY il
124 X e §37

Mote TiScrts o0f Bmfess b Sxeeess B dlar 312203 @j

223 ) F Sl 7 =
Motz ToRrm v 2 madc fordumany Iy MItJL 33 5?“_ 5 _E@_
197 }( ] T-!" $37 e
Note: TiOuts wil b8 reasy fer Stivecy Sy Har 5], X [E
112 X 28 $37 e
2:!: Ticher= w54 aly tor sesenry v Har 34 51T @
118 ® ek 537

FOREE | VSRR ol DA TRRS A5 2abvTy B Mar 3L MR

227 F 3 §37

MIAE VIR e T4 WAy W d80v27Y By Mar 3l 2003

124 X e §3?

PSR THREE = B4 TEaSy fur geReare b v 31, TR -

a3 F 3T A

50N TOaRSs ol b rabTy W2 ZoE 0% By 3 31 20U

el Ve Senlrst Uy PAG Peliclss Qutranies

dre® To vort the Emt Date B Thone: A.pf 7, 2013 - 3: ttﬂ o
To purchase tiokots Ewnl v-nm- Al Cant
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Like the Radio City Music Hall ticket page, this ticket page states in small print above the venue
map: “We are a resale marketplace, not a box office or venue.”
53. A consumer who clicked on the “Buy” button of this page was directed to a

checkout page that looks almost identical to that in the previous example, as illustrated below:

OFFiciAL ONLINE TICKETS

Caill877-686-5366 18

Ticket Information

Shipping: Ssipees; Lisy 38 . Tickets
i AT |
{ | Event Connecticut Whale vs. Providence Bruins
Tame. Subday Aprd U7, 2013 »t 300 PM
| Location AL Centar - (Formady Hadlosd Ciic Cactec) in Hardord. CT US
Seats Seclon: 11§ Now: X Tickels Ix3N
Price Per Ticket: 337030
Delivery
Tiekets Requested: (o [
Fikets Requested 23]
Please Note
A3 .
e
PURCHASENOTES . -
| Ay rewsn o-PaaR, a0 SN W - *
H
j Delivery Options
|
| Detiver To. = Select Country - i~
| Tickets can ordy be shpped to the countries fesled at
i Delivery Method: |= Saiect Dwinvary | 7o) g tor ke
| Piease seiect 2 Deliwery Country snd Delivery Method lor addiionsd information

1A spacial detuney msiriactions 2 1y ocdee

Billing Information

Farst Name

2vt Name

Emusil Address
Confirm Ematl;

! Tebophone:

Street

54.  If a consumer scrolled down the checkout page to the bottom third of the page, the

“terms and policies” box would appear below the “Billing Information” section:
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Billing infermation

St it ovincy. |~ Seleet Slate o -

Pgpante Codo & v

= B R W E s

Fagiason Momh [=] vear =]
Secanmy | Vet o 3 Senaty Cads

agomm! Loxde:

Ganeral, U Cring-Tums (oM 63 56 20 iNIMESur) Deteofrt Duyers And TS 395085 ( TICKET SELLERY (1o w!
facditale the puichase and Saf of vt bokels, and & such 5 pel disotlly ivaled n P Rctual Soket sale bansacton ;
between the buyers and TICKET SELLEAS AH sales are hnal Az boiels said theough SITE ate oflan oblsned Brough the
secongdary market Gnd pnces are detarmaed by the vidrazuat TICKET SELLER. e paces far hoopds may Do above of beim
face value The fofowsn) are T ez TERMS'| 2l govem uze of the OfMcal Omine-Tiokets com Web zde ( SITE by 1he

uter of 2 SITE ("USER') By vies or wishing e SITE WPSER evprently grees [0 b bound by these TERWS 2nd 19 loins
hese TERMS ang a2 proheabia wus B 10petons govemng SITE STE tes0fcas the ng™ 1d Chinps Inege TERMS 3 4oy
1o e TERLIS 220 ofectve mmadiatedy upon postng on SITE H/SER walades Mete TERIS Officai-Onine-Tis 13 Zom
may rarmasate usm? s o S sat by US(R oo haure w50 o SITE. camonl USERS Srkat o408 Ando ke =

55.  If the consumer then scrolled down within the “terms and policies” box,

additional information important to the consumer’s purchase would appear again, for example:

] " i - o " S0
Have you read and do you agree to pur terms and policies? O Yes ® No

Above Face Value. Tickets sold through SITE are often obtained through secondary market TICKET SELLERS and are being
resold, in many cases, above the price or *face value” listed on the ticket. All ticket prices include additional service charges and
handling fees as defined on each order. SITE and TICKET SELLERS are not directly affiliated with any performer, sports team, or
venue; and SITE does not act as a primary sale box office, unless otherwise stated. By agreeing to these TERMS, USER agrees
that the purchase price for tickets on USER'S order does not reflect the original purchase price of the ticket and may be either
| |nigher or lower than the original purchase price.

iOrders. Orders placed through SITE will be fulfilled by one of SITE'S network of participating TICKET SELLERS. Contact v
_linformation for the TICKET SELLER who will fulfill USER'S order (hereinafter known as "FULFILLER") will be provided to USER

56.  The disclaimers on the web pages and the “terms and policies” section, which are
identical to those on the Radio City Music Hall website, are insufficient to dispel the net

impression created by Ryadd’s Google advertisements and its web pages that this is the official
21
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website for the XL Center in Hartford or is the official site for an entity authorized by the XL
Center to sell tickets at face value.

57.  Defendant Ryadd generated hundreds of similarly-designed, venue-specific
Ryadd websites and thousands of similarly-designed paid Google advertisements to sell resale
event tickets in TicketNetwork’s inventory.

Examples of the Consumer’s Experience Purchasing Tickets
Through SBO Websites

58.  The consumer experience purchasing event tickets on a resale website maintained
by SBO, another TicketNetwork Partner, is very similar to that of consumers purchasing event
tickets on a Ryadd resale website.

59.  The following is an example of one search engine advertisement that SBO placed

during the relevant period. A consumer who typed the phrase “palace theater albany™ into a

Google search engine box would see the following search results:

GO ( 481(_‘ hpmaoa theater albany “ Sign is
Search s 0" Fel
I Everysung Sl Gl ot b “-Whyha?  pajace Theatre - Directions
alace Theater ny - alace Thea! ny Tickets “
— e ML, e AR N IS o SO <oy I | T
Save More al AlbanyBoxOffice.com. Htow ! Ao s ‘,“"
Meps s BTN .y, _L:} 0] <
Videos Waelcome to the Palace Theatre | Albany NY ", o)
« . pelacealbany com’ . N sl T y P
News Welcome to the Palace Theatre Albany NY.Albany New York's leading entertainment ® st b e a
& venue featuring arts such as rock. jazz. classical. comedy and much more. 2 - _,'" D by Fas
hopping ¥ w4 10 Google revie T U
g el czarz BNy T e Mo el €2012 Google
More . 19 Clinton Ave # 6 Albany NY 12207
(518) 465-3334 . ;
Fairfax, VA Events & Tickets Parking & Directions
Change location 2:00 PK PERFORMANCE Prepare View Larger Map. PARKING There ol—""
to step into a world of wonder ... are several oplions for ... -
Show search tools Seating Chart Contact Us Eiente
Please click on the seating chart *First Name. *Last Name. Company - .
sections below for images from ... Name. Address ... Fil. Mer 23 ,_s.:": v :'E:gn;?:ér t::r:. showtimelickels com
< Sat Mar24 Disney Live! Three Classic Fairy Tales
Box Office EAQ's . tore info: ticketmaster,com, vipseats com
Palace Theatre Box Office ... The Palace Theatre is not Wed. Mar 28 Lord of the Danca
Tickets can be purchased at ... responsible for lost or ... ) 1cre mfo, Uicketmaster.com, showtmelickets com

More rasulls from palacealbany.com »
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60.  The first listed result is a paid advertisement for an SBO resale website promoting
resale tickets in TicketNetwork’s inventory. All three lines convey the impression that clicking
on this advertisement will take consumers to the website of the actual Palace Theater in Albany:

Palace Theater Albany — Buy Palace Theater Albany Tickets
palace.albanyboxoffice.com
Save More at AlbanyBoxOffice.com

61.  In the above example, SBO added the more venue-specific detail, i.e., “palace,” to
the display URL, “palace.albanyboxoffice.com/.” The actual URL owned by SBO, to which
consumers are directed, is “albanyboxoffice.com.”

62. A consumer who clicked on the blue hyperlink in the ad was directed to an SBO

website with the following landing page:

Aboul Us | Contact Us | Sde Policies

/BoxOffice com

POWEHRED BY SECUREBDXOGFFICE

VERIFIED o eclrust
SECURE ER & Sncryprion

HOME CONCERTS SPORTS THEATER

Palace Theatre Tic

kets

You Are Shopping
Palace Theatre

Albany, N¥ 12207

EVENT DATE & TIME VENUE
Sandy Hacketf's Rat Pack Shi Fri Mar 23, 2012 Palace Theatre Alba RSl cwe
a acketf's 8 o ar 23, alace e ny
8:00 PM Albany, NY g Tickaly
Live Support
Disney Live! Three Classic Fairy Sat Mar 24, 2012 Palace Theatre Albany \iew Tickels s PP
Tales 2:00 PM Albany NY Speak with a real person
Disney Livet Three Classic Fairy Sat Mar 24, 2012 Palace Theatre Albany seven days a week.
Tales 5:00 PM Albany, NY o Tickaley ok e v
Lord of the Dance Wed Mar 28, 2012 Palace Theatre Albany
7:30 PM Albany, NY (awTickels s O Gistaries
One Night of Queen Sun Apr1, 2012 Palace Theatre Albany
8:00 PM Albany, NY Vgt Tickofe + Authentic Tickels
Albany Symphony Orchestra Sat Apr 21, 2012 Palace Theatre Albany / Qn-time Delivery
7:30 PM Albany, NY picyIeie :
/" The exact tickels you
The Avett Brothers Palace Theatre Albany

Sun Apr 22, 2012
8:00 PM

Albany, NY

23

“ﬁ Tickels »

ordered, of befter ones



Case 3:14-cv-01046 Document 1 Filed 07/24/14 Page 24 of 44

63.  The most physically prominent features on the landing page include the title,
AlbanyBoxOffice.com, and the list of available tickets at the Palace Theater Albany. At the top
right is the statement:

You Are Shopping

Palace Theater

Albany, NY 12207

United States of America
This information adds to the net impression that this site is the official website of Albany Palace
Theater or is the official site of an entity authorized by the Palace Theater to sell tickets at face
value.

64.  Like the Ryadd websites, the information provided in the general ticket listings is
created by a feed from TicketNetwork’s inventory.

é5. A consumer who clicked on a “View Tickets” button was directed to a ticket

listing page, for example:

Abost tis | Contac Us © Ste Polivies

Order online or purchase by phane toll free at (388) 546-8561 SEFVFIED oTrust:

SeCURE Il i encrvpuon

The Avett Brothers at Palace Theatre Albany s:00 PronApr22 2012 - Albany. N

We are a resale markelplace, not a box office or venue.

Hov many tickets 00 you want? rj decide at checkoul = |
What's your pfice range? Nomn;f- Nnmmllm_:]

SECTION ROW HAVALABLE  PRICE (EACH) ] """';::" ;I;""?'
DRCHEI'.QEFT W 2 $40 Buy st 42 (Eve 202 Evem V20102 (€ y 1137 (O 177 (Odd) 3139 (Odd)
a '3 a ®
l g 1
ORCH LEFT g' g ?' I al [ 4
CENTER Y z L B B i £ : i =
Rrght Right Center Lamn Cerer Lew
1st Balcon
ORCLC W 20r4 540 Buy AL78 (Even) 101,191 ‘Y 133 {Dad) 2747 (Ddd)
£ £
L S S S dE SHe e
Right Center Cemsr Left Cartes Latt
CRCH CENTER o 2 552 Loge
Buy (LIRTIY 1-21 (Odd)} 74T (D)
Tickets vrit S randy t2 840 by 4022032 H i I | :
ORCH RIGHT K 2 78 o g 7 3 ]
Takers vl be ready Lo 8% by 04083012 E g c i ;
Balcony X tor3 578 By H g4 h 2 H
Tiskets il be ready 'z sko £y 05132012 !j ? 5 I}
Balcony G-X 1or3 s78 By ! i 3 H
Tiekets vil ba ready 1o sho by 04152012 H H H &
Balcony X 2ord $78 o & A ; &
Tickats vall D& reagy (o sk oy 04'162012 : E 8
Balcony G-x 2ord s78 Buy = = peed g
Tk vl i sy 0 this B CATRTHE Right Center 3 :;.n:-"a Left Center Left
il i : ! i By T e S L T |
Tickezs vl ba ready 12 580 by G 822 ~
RBALCRT X 2 576 roas oy
Tiokats vill b4 ready % 849 oy 04154012
BALCLC .U 204 s7@ By x|
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66.  The most physically prominent features on the page include the title,
“AlbanyBoxOffice.com,” the list of available tickets at the Palace Theater Albany, and the
seating map for that venue. TicketNetwork creates and maintains the information provided in
the ticket listings. The SBO website is able to access and display TicketNetwork’s inventory
through the Ticket Network software plug-in. In fall 2011, TicketNetwork modified the plug-in
software that its Partners use to display venue maps on their sites and, thereafter, the SBO sites
have included the following disclaimer in small print: “We are a resale marketplace, not a box
office or venue.”

67.  Similar to the ticket prices on the Ryadd websites, SBO’s list price for the tickets
is based on the price set by the actual reseller plus mark-up by SBO and TicketNetwork. In
many instances, the ticket’s list price significantly exceeds its face value, which is not displayed
on the website.

68. A consumer who clicked on a “Buy” button was directed to a checkout page, for

example:

Ch i
POWERELD BY SECLREBNXOFFICE

L Tickets

. Your event experience is
| guaranteed trom startto ish. Event THE AVETT BROTHERS
! Buying witn us means you will Tf:_’,‘:i;”n_ o " ‘ﬂ :?r P
always: LAt T “2i
> Recigve your tickets in time, Seats Section: BALC Row: G-P Tickets: 2% $453.00
- Receive real, valid tickets, '::-L‘itpseg I;?fkailtal ; 2“' wlivery: A
- Reciave the exact tickets you Total:
ordered or better ones Please Note:
+ Recalve 2 full refund if the A3 prces ae i US De
event is cancelied without Taksl Goss not inchits stat o ot es if apphca
makeup. Vve I A resale marke L& venue
Seller Comments: Tickets wil be ready o ship 152912
Need help? Give Us ACar [*
1-B88B-546-8561 3
Delivery Options
: Deliver To: [~ Select Country — =l
AL ta'n.sachons a1 protactad by Tickets can only be shupped to the countries listed above.
1 ZSW,Sewm s gl S Deltvery Method. [-- Select Delivery Option - =] Cicicfor help
.f SACHHON UL IS = Intad Pigase select a L‘r:’: very Country and Delivery Method for additional information,
| daily to assure the highest I i et S s
| security for our customers. Aad e VRO i Nons Ty ocdnt
|
[ -
? Billing Information
Atsturn e-mail, which states that First Name: |
| your credit card has been LestName:|
| charged for your order, serves as

ial dress:
| acceptance of your offer to Bl ATGee SI
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69.  This checkout page, also titled “AlbanyBoxOffice.com,” displays the tickets that

the consumer is about to purchase, delivery options, and a box for credit card information.

Above “delivery options,” in very small type, is the same set of purported disclosures that appear

on the right side of Ryadd’s landing pages:

Please Note:

All prices are in US Dollars ($)
Total does not include state or local, or other taxes if applicable
We are a resale marketplace, not a box office or venue

70.  Like on the Ryadd websites, TicketNetwork controls the content of the “terms and

policies” box. If a consumer scrolls down to the bottom of the checkout page, below the

“Billing Information” fields, there is a section asking: “Have you read and do you agree to our

terms and policies?” with radio buttons reading “Yes” and “No.” Below this question in the

“terms and policies” box appears information about the consumer’s purchase, for example:

Purchase Notes

Areturn e-mail, which statas that
your credit card has been
charged for your order, serves as
acceptance of your offer to
purchase fickets.

Ali sales are final.

There are no refunds, exchanges
or canceliations. If the event i
postponed, tickets will be
henered for the rescheduled
date

Billing Information

Fits! Name

Last N.-.me.]—
Emas Address: |
Conlicr Emait:|
Telephor r-"—_—_
':'-;er:[
|
|
State Mavioze: [— Select State — =]
ZipPoswl Co u::l Co !ry:[
¥ e bang addeess &

cs s it vy aoarese

e

= B e
Credit Cau ’I

Expreation: [Wionlh ] [Vesr 3]
Security C il Whal s 3 0ge?
[nscount Corls I ExSwg

togd &7d da you egree = vw lerms and pokgies® T & e

[General. albany com acts as an ntermediary between buyers and tickel sellers (defined below) o fl
faciltate the purchase and sale of event tickets. and as such is not directly involved in the aclual ticket sale
Jransaction between e buyers and TICKET SELLERS. All sales are final. As lickets sold through SITE sre often
bbtained through the secondary market and prices are determined by the individual ticket sefler, the prices for

fickets may be above or below face value. The following are the rules or "TERMS™ thal govem use of the
Blbanyboxoffice.com Web Site ("SITE") by you, the user of the SITE (USER"). By using or visiting the SITE,

USER expressly agrees to be bound by these TERMS and to follow these TERMS and all applicable laws and
regutations goveming the SITE. abanyboxoffice.com reserves the right to change these TERMS at any fime,

effective immediately upon posting on the SITE. If USER violates these TERMS albanyboxoffice.com may LI
V¥ sgn un v o © [ sies a0 pant of ol Prvagy
Policy

Clicd

C 2 Continue ta'sn to 1w 7 0f Cick ne Cancel Order tulton w cance ¥
SecureBoxOice. com B pige

Continue Secure Checkout >
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71. A consumer does not have to scroll down within the “terms and policies” box to
complete the transaction; rather, the consumer simply could click “Yes” above it, and then click
the “Continue” button at the bottom of the webpage to review the order, and ultimately complete
his transaction.

72.  If the consumer scrolls within the “terms and policies™ box, additional

information such as the following appears:

ove Face Value. Tickets sold through SITE are often obtained through secondary market TICKET SELLERS ﬂ
nd are being resold, in many cases, above the price or "face value” listed on the ticket. All ticket prices include

dditional service charges and handling fees as defined on each order. SITE and its TICKET SELLERS are not

irectly affiliated with any performer, sports team, or venue; and SITE dees not act as a primary sale box office, |
nless otherwise stated. By agreeing to these TERMS, USER agrees that the purchase price for tickets on their i
rder does not reflect the original purchase price of the ticket and may be either higher or lower than the original i
urchase price. !

rders. Orders placed through SITE will be fulfilled by one of our network of participating TICKET SELLERS. _'_I

73.  The disclaimers in SBO’s webpages, by virtue of their placement, size, language,
and other factors, are insufficient to dispel the net impression conveyed by the company’s
Google advertisements and webpages that this is the official website for Palace Theater Albany
or is the official site for an entity authorized by the Palace Theater Albany to sell tickets at face
value.

74.  The following is another example of a search engine advertisement that SBO
placed during the relevant period. A consumer searching for an event at the Performing Arts
Center (PAC) in Providence, Rhode Island, who typed the phrase “providence performing arts

center” into a Google Search engine box, would see the following search results:
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Search e {
!
\
|
' Eve b Providence Performing Arts Center (FFACJ Directions
Providence P A.C - Providence Performing Arts Center. o v iuvnoine
Images ‘s ppach org nome e g 7
But Your Tickets Today! e i
M Davmtown o I
wps Contact Us - Evenls Calender - Spacial Offers o] Provdence ¥ - xrt ¥
Videos o a 9.; . &1
Providence PAC Tickets | pac.providenceboxoffice.com ﬁ\-_ r ¢ - (4
News pac. providenceboxofica cor/ L o £
Shopping Buy Providence PAC Tickets. Official ProvidenceBoxOffice Site. b | o & _J
wnz Gﬂ,ﬁ b Hep s 02012 Googhf_
fdare Providence Center Tickets - Just Buy Prov Perf Arts Center Tix
wrarw Justbuylickets com/Rhade!sland
Providence Performing Arts Center ‘
Fairfax, VA
Change location Providence Performing Arts Center . Home
vt ppacr org
Show searchools Venue for concerts, traveling shows_and free local events. Conlains series schedules

pku ticket and booking information. Dewnlown
7 10 Google raviews

At a glance: rock of ages - gazillion bubble show - les miserables -
movie palace - concerls

+ 220 Weybosset St# 2 Providence RI02906 Train; Providence Amtrak
{401) 421-2997
Events Directions More reviews

Tickels are available for purchase

enfine, by phone at (401) 421 ... within walking distance of ...

The theatre Is convenlently localed

insiderpages.com (7)
tripadvisor com (4)

Mary Poppins Eull Schedule yahoa.com (1)
MARY POPPINS is bringing its own Ctick here for Full Schedule judysbook.com (3)

brand of Broadway magic ... Interactive Seating Char ...

75.  The second result is a paid Google advertisement for an SBO resale website. All
three lines convey the impression that clicking on this advertisement will take shoppers to the
website of the actual Providence Performing Arts Center where they can obtain tickets from the

“box office” at face value:

76.

URL, “pac.providenceboxoffice.com/.” The actual URL owned by SBO, to which consumers

Providence PAC Tickets/ pac.providenceboxoffice.com

pac.providenceboxoffice.com

Buy Providence PAC Tickets. Official ProvidenceBoxOffice Site

In this advertisement, SBO added the more venue-specific detail in the display

are directed, is “providenceboxoffice.com.”
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77. A consumer who clicked on the blue hyperlink in the ad was directed to an SBO

website with the following landing page:

AbputUs | Contact Us | Site Pobcies

2BoxOffice.cam

PONERED BY SECUREBOXOFFICE

Ri

i Gedlrust:
cu 55l encryption

HOME CONCERTS SPORTS THEATER { Find
. 1 You Are Shopping
Providence Peforming Arts Center Tickets ne il el
Center
EVENT DATE & TIME VENUE o el
The Addams Family Thu Mar 22, 2012 Providence Performing
730 PM Arts Center Migw Tickelas United States of America
Providence, RI
The Addams Family Fri Mar 23, 2012 Providence Performing Live Support t}
730PM Arts Center MW Tickels 3
Providence. Rl Speak with a real person
The Addams Family Sat Mar 24, 2012 Providence Performing S seven days a week.
2:00 PM Arts Center ey & (588} 546 - 8561
Providence, RI
The Addams Family Sat Mar 24, 2012 Providence Performing
£:00 P AHSConter View Tickets » Qur Guarantee
Providence, Rl
" Authenlic Tickels.
The Addams Family Sun Mar 25, 2012 Providence Performing _
1:00 PM Arts Center pewTickeley " On-time Delivery.
Providence. RI
+/" The exact tickels you
The Addams l’-‘aml;y ggla ll;!g’r 25, 2012 mg:::éar Performing \iew Tickels » P L
Biovidence, Rl Y Refund on evenl
Chris Botti Sat Mar 31, 2012 Providence Performing : canceliation
700PM Arts Center pElickelny
Providence, RI QOr your money back.

78. A consumer who clicked on the “View Tickets” button on the landing page was

directed to a ticket listing page, for example:

About Us | Conlact Uz | Sde Policies

Order online ar purchase by phone toll free at (B88) 546-8561 VERIFIED o~ GegTrust:
SEcURE EE Veiyeron

POMERED BY SECL

The Addams Family at Providence Performing Arts Center 7:30Puon Mar 22. 2012 - Previdence, RI

We are a resale marketplace, not 2 bex office or venue.
Hov many tickets do you wan™  ry decids at checkout = | p— —— —

Whats your price Fange” Ng minmwm xf - No maximum > |
SECTION “ ROW ® AVAILABLE PRICE (EACH)
ORCHLC D 2 875 &%

Rt Garter L Easrine
Orchestra
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>

79.  The checkout page to which consumers were directed if they clicked the “Buy’

button looks almost identical to that in the previous example, as illustrated below:

& toercho0icecm e )
POWERED BY SECUREBOXOFFICE

| Tickets

| Your event experisnce Is

guaranteed from start to finish Event: THE ADDAMS FAMILY
: 3 7 Time: Tt arch 10 P

Buying with us means you will Yoestion: # Perfo Contor In Providence -1 US

ahways:

- Recieve your tickets in time Seats Section: URCH LIC Row: D Tickets: 21 §7500
; Price Per Tickel: $75.41 N

> Rec_ewe real, valid tickets, Tickets Requested: [3 5 De .ve:y:

- Recieve the exact fickets you Toial: 2

ordered. or betler ones.
- Receive a full refund if the
event s cancelled without

eo‘r':- ai, of other lanes ¥ appécable.
nat 8 bax office or venue

‘e ae A ressis markelph

makeup.
Nesd heip? Give Us A Call ﬂ
1-888-546-B561 Delivery Options )
Delver To: |- Select Country - >
: E-..kets can -:mylr'{e shipy u-,r?t_'l: tha countiies listed above.
| Al fransactions are protected by Detivery Method: |- Select Dalivery Option -- =] Chek for neip
256-hit Secure Socket Layer Piease select a Delivery Country and Delivery Method for additional mformation,
encryption. Our system is fested ™ Add special dekvery instruciions 1o my order
daily to assure the highest
security for our customers

1 Billing Information

Purchase Notes First dame: [

Areturn e-mail. which states that Last Name: |
your credit card has been Emait ,»\qg:e,,q;l
charged for your order, serves as
arrentance of vour offer to

Confirm Email:
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80.  If a consumer scrolled down to the bottom third of the checkout page, the “terms

and policies” box appeared below the “Billing Information™ section, as follows:

A return e-mail, which states that
your credit card has been
charged for your order, serves as
acceptance of your offer to
purchase tickets.

All szles are final,

There are no refunds, exchanges
or cancellations. If the event is
postponed, tickets will be
honored fer the rescheduled
date.

Billing Information

First Name:

Last Name:

Email Address: |

Confirm Email: |

Telaphone:
Street:
C.xtyzl
State T‘Jrov:n-:s:]— Select State — l‘
Zip/Postal Code:]' Country: I
[ Use my pating adoress 2z the shipping adoess

—_—
el o= - ko

Credit Card #: |

[xp;rar.uon;lMcnth "] |Year 'I
Security Code: YWhati ecurify Code?
Discount Cade: optional)

Hawe you read and do you agres 1o our terms and policies? ¢ Yes €

acilitate the purchase and sale of event tickets, and as such is not directly involved in the actual ticket sale
ransaction between the buyers and TICKET SELLERS. All sales are final. As tickets sold through SITE are often
obtained through the secondary market and prices are determined by the individual ticket seller, the prices for

tickets may be above or below face value. The following are the rules or "TERMS" that govern use of the
albanyboxoffice.com Web Site ("SITE") by you, the user of the SITE ("USER"). By using or visiting the SITE,

USER expressly agrees to be bound by these TERMS and to follow these TERMS and all applicable laws and
reguiations governing the SITE. albanyboxoffice.com reserves the right lo change these TERMS at any time,
effective immediately upon posting on the SITE. If USER violates these TERMS albanyboxofiice.com may Ll

&y

eneral. albanyboxoffice.com acts as an intermediary between buyers and ticket seliers (defined below] fo ﬂ
|
1

81. If a consumer scrolled down again, within the “terms and policies” box, additional

information appeared, for example:

A P VR S IS E SL LU agen 3L Ui, p—_—
Al

ove Face Value. Tickets sold through 3ITE are often obtained through secondary market TICKET 3ELLERS

Have you read and do you agree (o cur terms and policies? C vez @ No
|
\
|

nd &re being resold, in many cases, above lhe price ur "Tace value” lisled on he lickel, All lickel prices include
dditional service charges and handling fees ac defined on each order. SITE and its TICKET SELLERS are not
irectly affiliated with any performer, sports team, or venue; and SITE dees not act as a primary sale box office,

nless otherwise stated. By agreeing to these TERMS, USER agrees that the purchase price for tickets on their | |
rder does not reflect the original purchase price of the ticket and may be either higher or lower than the original |

urchase price.
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82.  The disclaimers in these webpages, by virtue of their placement, size, language,
and other factors, are insufficient to dispel the net impression conveyed by SBO’s Google
advertisements and its webpages that this is the official website for the Providence Performing
Art Center or is the official site for an entity authorized by the Providence Performing Arts
Center to sell tickets at face value.

83.  Defendant SBO generated hundreds of similarly-designed, venue-specific SBO
websites and hundreds of similarly-designed paid Google advertisements to promote such
websites and to sell resale event tickets in TicketNetwork’s inventory.

84.  Similar to its relationship with Ryadd, TicketNetwork, through its plug-in
software, maintains and controls the ticket information, venue maps, and checkout pages
displayed on all of the SBO websites.

85.  TicketNetwork has received numerous complaints from consumers, event
promoters, venues themselves, and various consumer protection agencies (e.g., the Better
Business Bureau (“BBB”) and state Attorney General offices) about the above-described
marketing practices of TicketNetwork’s Partners. TicketNetwork’s legal department and key
managers were aware of many of these complaints. Complaints from venues that Ryadd and
SBO were mimicking their sites and violating intellectual property laws were routinely handled
by its legal department, and forwarded to Ryadd and SBO. TicketNetwork also received notice
from ticket brokers that they often received complaints from consumers when their tickets were

sold through Partners’ venue-mimicking websites.

32



Case 3:14-cv-01046 Document 1 Filed 07/24/14 Page 33 of 44

TicketNetwork’s Participation in the
Deceptive Conduct of Ryadd and SBO

86.  TicketNetwork contracts with its Partners to act on its behalf to market and sell
tickets in TicketNetwork’s inventory. TicketNetwork’s purpose in hiring Ryadd and SBO has
been to drive more ticket sales to the exchange and obtain more fees. TicketNetwork has offered
financial incentives to Ryadd and SBO to sell aggressively.

87.  TicketNetwork also purports to control pertinent aspects of its Partners’ selling
techniques. Its Partner Guidelines, in force during the relevant period, have expressly prohibited
Partners from engaging in intellectual property violations, including the making of false venue
affiliation claims as alleged in this Complaint. In fact, when venues complained about Ryadd
and SBO advertisements like those challenged herein, TicketNetwork often exercised this control
to defuse the complaints and bad publicity. However, TicketNetwork did not require Ryadd or
SBO to terminate the venue-mimicking tactics employed in the vast majority of their microsites.

88. TicketNetwork knowingly has profited from the deceptive venue-mimicking
tactics of Ryadd and SBO. TicketNetwork earned substantial fees on Ryadd’s and SBO’s
increased sales. In fact, TicketNetwork knew or should have known that Ryadd and SBO were
making the misrepresentations alleged in this Complaint. A number of the complaints that
TicketNetwork received from venues, customers, BBBs, or government authorities attached
examples of Ryadd or SBO search engine pages or webpages that facially mimicked actual
venues. TicketNetwork executives on numerous occasions also worked closely with Ryadd or

SBO principals to coordinate responses to these complaints.
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89.

TicketNetwork, in addition to recruiting Ryadd and SBO to act on its behalf,

directly participated in their deceptive acts through the following means, among others:

A)

B)

©

Bagley, while an employee at TicketNetwork, was a full participant in the
creation of the deceptive content of Ryadd’s advertising campaign. Among other
things, Bagley hired the computer programmer who built the microsites; helped
devise the venue photos, venue titles, and venue descriptions on Ryadd
microsites; worked on minute details like fonts and choice of venue logos; and
conferred with Lineberry and TicketNetwork on how to defuse complaints. These
actions lasted from approximately September 2010 through mid-January 2011,
after which Bagley left TicketNetwork to join Ryadd full-time. His superiors at
TicketNetwork knew he was working on Ryadd strategies during normal
company hours, and viewed such assistance as part of his job. Bagley’s efforts
also served TicketNetwork’s purpose of growing the TicketNetwork exchange.
On repeated occasions, TicketNetwork and Ryadd executives jointly decided to
modify only the single Ryadd “microsite” targeted by a venue complaint, rather
than abandon Ryadd’s deceptive business model. TicketNetwork personnel did
so, even though they knew or should have known that Ryadd thereby would
continue to operate hundreds of microsites that mimicked other venues in the
same fashion.

TicketNetwork personnel other than Bagley, on repeated occasions, also exercised
joint decision-making authority with Ryadd or SBO executives regarding details
of the deceptive content of advertisements. TicketNetwork executives at times
urged only those website content changes that would not significantly decrease

sales. The general goal was to maintain Ryadd’s basic business model for as long
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(D)

(E)

90.

as possible while TicketNetwork executives helped to fend off government
investigations and private complaints.
TicketNetwork personnel also gave critical technical assistance to help keep
facially deceptive websites up and running, for example, by obtaining security
certificates for websites related to Ryadd’s “official-online-tickets.com”
advertising campaign. Later, when Google suspended numerous Ryadd websites,
TicketNetwork technical personnel made it a priority to quickly create checkout
pages for replacement Ryadd websites. Numerous such websites facially
mimicked actual venue sites (e.g., “foxcitiesperformingartscenter.org™) or
otherwise were designed to create the misimpression of being an actual venue site
(e.g., the term “Verizon” was appended to the registered domain name
“theatergrandprairie.com” so that the website would appear as
“Ve1;izon.theatergrandprairie.com).
TicketNetwork also provided spurious “legal cover” to Ryadd and SBO by
mandating the use of facially inadequate disclosures, and using those disclosures
as a pretext for refusing consumer refunds. One set of disclosures was in the
forbidding “terms and policies” scroll-down portion of the checkout pages, see,
e.g., Paragraphs 43 to 45. The size, language, font, and other aspects of the
disclosure were controlled by TicketNetwork.

DEFENDANTS’ VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits “unfair or deceptive acts

or practices in or affecting commerce.”

91.

Misrepresentations or omissions of material fact constitute deceptive acts or

practices prohibited by Section 5(2) of the FTC Act.
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COUNT I
Deceptive Representation That Resale Websites Were Official Websites for the
Venue or Other Entity Authorized by the Venue to Sell Tickets
(By Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission)

92.  Innumerous instances, from at least September 2010 to the filing of this
Complaint, in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or sale of
resale event tickets through websites owned and operated by Ryadd and SBO, Defendants have
represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, through the means, including, but
not limited to, those set forth in Paragraphs 16 through 89 above, that these websites are the
official websites for the venue or other entity authorized by the venue to sell tickets at face value.

93.  Intruth and in fact, the Ryadd and SBO websites are not the official websites for
the venue or other entity authorized by the venue to sell tickets at face value. Ryadd and SBO
are not affiliated with any venue, sports team, performer, or promoter, and they sell resale tickets
in partnership with TicketNetwork, oﬂén at prices significantly higher than face value.

94.  Therefore, the representation set forth in Paragraph 92 is false and misleading and
constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §
45(a).

COUNT II

Deceptive Failure to Disclose Material Information Regarding Resale Websites
(By Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission)

95. In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion,
offering for sale, or sale of event tickets through the Ryadd and SBO websites, Defendants have
represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that consumers may purchase

tickets for events at the prices listed on their websites.
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96.  Innumerous instances in which Defendants have made the representation set forth
in Paragraph 95 of this Complaint, Defendants have failed to adequately disclose to consumers
that: (1) Ryadd’s and SBO’s websites are offering resale tickets for sale; (2) the ticket prices
often exceed the tickets’ face value; and (3) the websites are not owned by the venue, sports
team, performer, or promoter (as applicable) or authorized to sell tickets on their behalf. This
information would be material to consumers in deciding whether to purchase tickets through
these websites. The failure to adequately disclose this information resulted in consumers
unknowingly paying substantially more than face value for event tickets.

97.  Defendants’ failure to adequately disclose the material information described in
Paragraph 96 above, in light of the representation described in Paragraph 95 above, constitutes a
deceptive act or practice in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

VIOLATIONS OF CUTPA

98.  CUTPA at § 42-110b(a) states the following: “[n]o person shall engage in unfair
methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or
commerce.”

99.  CUTPA states at § 42-110a(4): “trade” and “commerce” shall mean the
“advertising, the sale or rent or lease, the offering for sale or lease, or the distribution of any
service or any property, tangible or intangible, real, personal or mixed, and any article,
commodity, or thing of value in this state.”

100. CUTPA also states at § 42-110b(b) that: “[i]t is the intent that in construing
subsection (a) of this section, the commissioner and the courts of this state shall be guided by
interpretations given by the Federal Trade Commission and the federal courts to Section 5(a)(1)
of the Federal Trade Commission Act (15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1)), as from time to time amended.”

101. Defendants all operated, or have operated, from Connecticut.
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102. The acts and practices alleged in this Complaint all emanate from and are
intimately associated with Connecticut, are directed at Connecticut consumers and affect ticket
sales at Connecticut venues. Defendants are therefore engaged in trade or commerce in the State
of Connecticut.

COUNT III
Deceptive Representation That Resale Websites Were Official Websites for the Venue or
Other Entity Authorized by the Venue to Sell Tickets
(By Plaintiff State of Connecticut)

103.  Innumerous instances, from at least September 2010 to the filing of this
Complaint, in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or sale of
resale event tickets through websites owned and operated by Ryadd and SBO, Defendants have
represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, through the means, including, but
not limited to, those set forth in Paragraphs 16 through 89 that these websites are the official
websites for the venue or other entity authorized by the venue to sell tickets at the original face
value purchase price.

104. Intruth and in fact, the Ryadd and SBO websites are not the official websites for
the venue or other entity authorized by the venue to sell tickets at the original face value
purchase price. Ryadd and SBO are not affiliated with any venue, sports team, performer, or
promoter and sell resale tickets in partnership with TicketNetwork, often at prices significantly
higher than face value.

105. Defendants’ acts and practices, as described herein, were likely to mislead
consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances into believing that the Ryadd and SBO

websites were the official websites for the venue or other entity authorized by the venue to sell

tickets at face value.
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106. Defendants’ representations as set forth in paragraph 103 of this Count were
material to consumers’ decisions about whether or not to purchase tickets from the Ryadd and
SBO websites.

107. Defendants have therefore engaged in unfair or deceptive acts and practices in
violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110b(a).

COUNT IV

Civil Penalties — Deceptive Representations (By Plaintiff State of Connecticut)

108. The allegations of Paragraphs 103 through 107 of Count III are incorporated by
reference as Paragraph 108 of Count IV as if fully set forth herein.

109. Defendants engaged in the acts and practices alleged herein when they knew or
should have known that their conduct was unfair or deceptive, in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. §
42-110b(a), and, therefore, are liable for civil penalties of up to $5,000 per willful violation
pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-1100(b).

COUNT V
Per Se Deceptive Representation of Affiliation (By Plaintiff State of Connecticut)

110. The allegations of Paragraphs 103 through 107 of Count III are incorporated by
reference as paragraph 110 of Count V as if fully set forth herein.

111. Defendants’ acts and practices violate § 42-110b-18(d) of the Regulations of
Connecticut State Agencies, and constitute per se violations of CUTPA because Defendants have
misrepresented the Ryadd and SBO websites as being affiliated with official websites for the
venue or other entity authorized by the venue to sell tickets at the face value price.

112. Defendants have therefore engaged in unfair or deceptive acts and practices in

violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110b(a).
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COUNT VI
Civil Penalties — Per Se Deceptive Representations (By the State of Connecticut)

113.  The allegations of Paragraphs 110 through 112 of Count V are incorporated by
reference as Paragraph 113 of Count VI as if fully set forth herein.

114. Defendants engaged in the acts and practices alleged herein when they knew or
should have known that their conduct was unfair or deceptive, in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat.
§42-110b(a), and, therefore, are liable for civil penalties of up to $5,000 per willful violation
pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-1100(b).

COUNT VII

Failure to Provide Full and Fair Disclosure (By Plaintiff State of Connecticut)

115. In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion,
offering for sale, or sale of event tickets through the Ryadd and SBO websites, Defendants have
represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, through the means, including, but
not limited to, those set forth in Paragraphs 16 through 89 that the websites are the official
websites for the venue or other entity authorized by the venue to sell tickets at face value.

116. Innumerous instances in which Defendants have made the representation set forth
in Paragraphs 16-89 of this Complaint, Defendants failed to fully disclose to consumers that: (1)
Ryadd’s and SBO’s websites facilitate the resale of event tickets without authorization by any
venue; (2) Ryadd and SBO have no affiliation with any venue, sports team, performer, or
promoter; (3) tickets listed for sale on Ryadd’s and SBO’s websites are resale event tickets; and
(4) tickets listed for sale on Ryadd’s and SBO’s websites are listed at prices that in many cases
exceed their face value prices. The omission of this information would be material to consumers

in deciding whether to purchase tickets through these websites. The failure to provide a full and
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fair disclosure resulted in consumers unknowingly paying substantially more than face value for
event tickets.

117. Defendants’ failure to provide a full and fair disclosure, described in Paragraph
116 above, in light of the representations described in Paragraph 115 above, constitutes unfair or
deceptive acts and practices in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110b(a).

COUNT VIII
Civil Penalties — Failure to Disclose (By Plaintiff State of Connecticut)

118.  The allegations of Paragraphs 115 through 117 of Count VII are incorporated by
reference as Paragraph 118 of Count VIII as if fully set forth herein.

119. Defendants engaged in the acts and practices alleged herein when they knew or
should have known that their conduct was unfair or deceptive, in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. §
42-110b(a), and, therefore, are liable for civil penalties of up to $5,000 per willful violation
pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-1100(b).

COUNT IX
Per Se Failure to Disclose Material Contingency (By Plaintiff State of Connecticut)

120.  The allegations of Paragraphs 115 through 117 of Count VII are incorporated by
reference as paragraph 120 of Count IX as if fully set forth herein.

121. Defendants’ failure to conspicuously disclose each material contingency,
condition or limitation to the offer, in light of the representations described in Paragraph 115
above, constitutes a per se unfair or deceptive act or practice pursuant to Regulations of
Connecticut State Agencies § 42-110b-22.

122.  Defendants have therefore engaged in unfair or deceptive acts and practices in

violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110b(a).
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COUNT X

Civil Penalties — Per Se Failure to Disclose Material Contingency
(By Plaintiff State of Connecticut)

123.  The allegations of Paragraphs 120 through 122 of Count IX are incorporated by
reference as Paragraph 123 of Count X as if fully set forth herein.

124. Defendants engaged in the acts and practices alleged herein when they knew or
should have known that their conduct was unfair or deceptive, in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. §
42-110b(a), and, therefore, are liable for civil penalties of up to $5,000 per willful violation
pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-1100(b).

CONSUMER INJURY

125. Consumers have suffered substantial injury as a result of Defendants’ violations
of the FTC Act and CUTPA. In addition, Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a result of
their unlawful acts or practices. Absent injunctive relief by this Court, Defendants are likely to
continue to injure consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest.

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF

126.  Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers this Court to grant
injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt and redress violations
of the FTC Act. The Court, in the exercise of its equitable jurisdiction, may award ancillary
relief, including rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and
the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, to prevent and remedy any violation of any provision of
law enforced by the FTC.

127.  The counts based upon CUTPA may be enforced by this Court through its
pendent or supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367, and this Court may award

relief under CUTPA, Conn. Gen. Stat. §§ 42-110m(a) and 42-1100(b).
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, Plaintiffs, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), Conn.

Gen. Stat. §§ 42-110a, et seq. and the Court’s own equitable powers, requests that the Court:

A, Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act and
CUTPA by Defendants;
B. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers

resulting from Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act and CUTPA, including, but not limited to,
rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, civil penalties and
the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies;

C. Award the State its attorneys fees; and

D. Award Plaintiffs the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.

Dated: _July 24 , 2014
Respectfully submitted,

JON NUECHTERLEIN
General Counsel

\/Wl QAL W
MAMIE KRESSES
DEAN C. GRAYBILL
Federal Trade Commission
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Room NJ-3212
Washington, D.C. 20580
(T) 202-326-2070 (Kresses)
(T) 202-326-3082 (Graybill)
(F) 202-326-3259
mkresses@ftc.gov
dgraybill@ftc.gov
Attorneys for Plaintiff
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
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JONA AN J.B

(CT 22

MATT F FITZSIMMONS
(CT 26981

Assistant Attorneys General
Office of the Attorney General
110 Sherman Street

Hartford CT 06105

Tel: (860) 808-5400

Fax: (860) 808-5593
Jonathan.Blake@ct.gov
Matthew.Fitzsimmons@ct.gov
Attorneys for Plaintiff
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